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Trinity Episcopal Church in Gouverneur

By MRS. RICHARD JANKE

~In 1862, the Rev. Wilbur Pad-
dock held the first Episcopalian
religious service in Gouverneur in
the Presbyterian church. Then in
1865 the Rev. Jeddekiah Winslow
came from Watertown as a travel-
ing’ missionary for the North
Country and held a few services.
Seeing great possibilities for the
establishment of a church, he was
appointed missionary in charge of
the interested congregation in
February, 1866, and held regular
services in the Wesleyan semin-
ary, ‘a conference school of the
Methodist church.
- Within two months parish or-
ganization was effected, and on
Easter ' Monday, April 16 1866,
the congregation was' lncorporated
as Trinity Church.

The first wardens and vestry-
men were: Judge Benjamin F.
Skinner, warden; Aaron B. Cut-
ting, warden; Augustus E. Nor-
ton, Albert M. Barney, Amos E.
Egert, Griswold E. Burt, John S.
Honeycomb, Thomas Jones, James
D. Easton and William H. Bowne.

First Minister

The Rev. J. Winslow was the
first minister and his total sal-
ary was $685.00 with $435.00
pledged from the local parish,
$150.00 from the Board of Mis-
sions, and $100.00 from the Nor-
thern Convocation.

Plans were immediately made
to build a church. A subscription
was started, and the women form-
ed the Ladles Aid Society of 30
members. Under the presidency
of Mrs. Amos Egert, they raised
$900.00 the first year by festi-
vals, socials, and suppers. A lot
on the corner of Trinity avenue
and Park street was donated by
Messers. James and William Av-
erill of Ogdensburg. John S. Hon-
eycomb and James Anderson were
appointed architects and given the
contract for the church building.

Building the Church

On September 10, 1866, the cor-
nerstone was laid; and about a
year later the building was com-
pleted at a cost of $7,000.00, a
great deal of labor having been
donated.

The basement was fitted up for
a -Parish School which opened in
the fall of 1867 with 40 pupils and
Miss Katherine Skinner as teach-
er. The village had limited school
facilities at the time so the school

was of great benefit to the com-
munity and continued for seven
years at which time the East Side
School at the corner of Gordon
street and Barney streets was
built, On July 29, 1869, free from
debt, the church was dedlcated by
the Rt. Rev. William Croswell
Doane, S.T.D., LL.D., D.O.L., first
bishop of the Diocese of Albany,
It stated in the original subscrip-
tion that the pews or sittings
should be assessed yearly for the
contingent revenue of the parish.
In 1870, Trinity Church was ad-
mitted into the Diocese of Albany.
Services have been maintained
regularly since by the following
rectors:
Rectors

The Rev. Jeddekiah Winslow,
1866-1867; The Rev. E. Dolloway,
1867-1870; The Rev. J. H. Bab-
cock, 1870-1871; The Rev. William
M. Ogden, 1871-1875; The Rev.
Thomas W. Barry, 1875-1877; The
Rev. Herbert C. Miller, 1877-1878;
The Rev. Bradford D. Kirkbride,
1878-1879; The Rev. Samuel B.
Bostwick, 1880-1881; The Rev.
John Dolby -Skeene, 1881-1883;
The Rev. Benjamin Rice Phelps,
1883-1885; The Rev. George Ho-
ward Sommerville, 1885-1889; The
Rev. James A. Dickson, 1890-1914;
The Rev. William A. Braithwaite,
1914-1923; The Rev. W. Hubert
Bierck, 1923-1925; The Rev. Vic-
tor O. Boyle, 1925-1942; The Rev.
Robert  Clyde Joudry, 1942-1952
and The Rev. Richard K. Janke,
1952- .

Choir and Organ

The first choir was organized in
1867 under the direction of Mrs.
Fidelia Goodrich Burt, who was a
teacher of vocal and instrumental
music and a talented musician. In
1882, a pipe organ was purchased
and an organ chamber built to ac-
commodate it. In 1893, this organ
was exchanged for a new one
made by Hook and Hastings at an
additional cost of $1100.00. This
organ, still in use today, is in ex-
cellent condition and in its orig-
inal form except for the tremeo-
stop added in 1935 and the elec-
tric blower installed in 1924.

Choir vestments were first used
on Easter Day, 1905; they were
made in London, England, by Van-
heims, at a cost of $200.00. The
choir has continued as a vested
organization ever since maintain-
ed by a devoted band of organists,

directors and singers. At present,
there are 20 members under the
direction of Mrs. William T, An-
derson with Mrs. Carlton Weegar
as orgamst
Sunday School

The ‘Sunday School was organ-
ized in 1867 with Aaron B. Cut-
ting as the first superintendent.
Week-day church school began in
1921, meeting every Thursday
from 8:45-9:45 under the leader-
ship  of the rector. At present
there are about 60 pupils. Assist-
ing Father Janke on Thursday are
Mrs. Larry Mashaw, Mrs. Thomas
Rotundo, and Mrs. Walter Chris-
tensen. Assisting at Sunday
School are Miss Mary Kenyon,
Mrs. Jack Elmer, Mrs. George
Cougler, Mrs. James Fleming and
Carlton Weegar.

Rectory

In May, 1869, Judge James
Smith of Buffalo, New York, gave
a spacious lot and house at the
northwest corner of John .and
South streets for a parish rectory.
This rectory was sold and the pro-
ceeds put into a larger and more
convenient house at the rear of
the church lot which was com-
pleted in 1882, A screened in porch
was added while the Rev. V. O.
Boyle was rector.

Vestry

The vestry which has charge of
church property and finances has
been served by a devoted group of
laymen. Originally the vestry con-
sisted of two wardens and eight
vestrymen, but in 1884, this num-
ber was reduced to five. In Janu-
ary, 1953, a rotating vestry was
started making any man going off
the vestry ineligible for reelec-
tion for a year. The present vestry
consists of two wardens and six
vestrymen. They are: wardens:
J. Elliot Wood, and Walter Chris-
tensen; vestrymen: William Ham-
mond, Ray Fosgate, Charles Mur-
phy, Carl Davis, Garneld Savage
and Vernon Cannoy.

Church Groups

The women of the church are
organized into two guilds, St.
Agnes’ Guild and Trinity Guild.
St. Agnes Guild was organized in
the Rev. G. H. Sommerville’s time
to carry on the duties of the for-
mer St. Cecelia’s Guild which as-
sisted in the expenses of the choir
and the organ. In addition they
pledged themselves to take care
of the altar, altar hangings, and



PAGE 42

linen. At present, the guild helps
materially in parish finances along
with their other work. In 1952,
the members bought material and
made a set of purple Eucharistic
vestments. They also made and
embroidered purificators and lav-
abo towels. The present officers
are; president, Mrs. Carlton Wee-
gar; vice-president, Mrs. Hazel
Hudson; secretary, Mrs. Elliot
Wood; treasurer, Mrs. William
Anderson; chaplain, Miss Grace
Corbin.

Trinity Guild was formed in
1941. Its members have given fi-
nancial aid to the parish and Sun-
day school and have been respon-
sible for the choir mothers and
choir vestments. New choir vest-
ments were bought in 1948 with
funds from both guilds. The pres-
ent officers of Trinity Guild are:
president, Mrs. Carl Davis; vice-
president, Mrs. Thomas Rotundo;
secretary, Mrs. George Gardner;
treasurer, Mrs. David Murray;
chaplain, Mrs. Walter Christensen.

The original Ladies Aid society
changed its name to St. Andrew’s
Guild about 1900, It was dis-
banded several years ago, and now
there are only three members left
Mrs. Frank Keeler, Mrs. Carl Gei-
sendorfer and Mrs. Albert Bough-
ner. The missionary work of the

History of the

By MISS ELEANOR FLETCHER
The actual recordings of work
carried on by the women of the
Gouverneur Methodist church in
its earliest days have been mis-
laid thus making impossible the
writing of any lengthy history.
However, we do know that from
the beginning the church has had
an active group of women work-
ing steadfastly in the background.
Lacking old records, we are
very fortunate in having the co-
operation of Mrs. Harry Rogers,
who as Miss Elizabeth Williams,
first became a member of the
Missionary society of the Metho-
dist church in 1895 and for many
years was an ardent and active
member thereof. She has volun-
teered a few interesting facts con-
cerning these earlier days.

She remembered as president of
the Foreign Mission group, Mrs.
L. M. Gardner; of the Home Mis-
sion Society, Mrs. George Bea-
man, sr. Later, the two missionary
groups were united under one

1805 —

GOUVERNEUR SESQUI-CENTENNIAL

church is done by the Women’s
auxiliary which was formed in
1898 with every woman in the
church being a member. The
United Thank Offering, the miss-
ionary box during Lent, and send-
ing materials to hospitals and
missions is the special work of
this group. During the Rev. J. A.
Dickson’s time, The Daughters of
the King was formed along with a
junior group. These were strictly
devotional groups and were dis-
banded while the Rev. Braithwaite
was rector,
Church Property

The church building and prop-
erty have been kept in good pres-
ervation. Early in The Rev. J. A.
Dickson’s time, the interior was
redecorated, and stained glass
windows were placed in the nave
of the church. About 1915 the in-
terior was redecorated again in
soft tones of cream and buff with
appropriate church symbols and
colors in the chancel and sanctu-
ary, at a cost of $3,000. This was
so beautiful and lasting that only
now are we looking forward to re-
decoration again.

Also, in 1915 a parish room, a
vesting room for the choir, and
the kitchen were built. In 1941, a
handsome new ceiling of acoustic
board was installed to replace the
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old plaster one. The hardwood
floors throughout the church were
refinished with duro seal. In 1948
the old furnace was taken out, and
a new oil burner installed. Two
Sunday School rooms were built
along with a room for keeping
the choir robes. New cupboards
were built in the kitchen, and
in. 1949 a rubber tile floor was
put in the main room.

In 1953 one large room was
made out of the two small Sunday
school rooms, and it was fitted
out for a nursery school with a
sand box and small tables. Recent-
ly the main room of the basement
has been done over, covering the
walls with insulation board and
painting the woodwork and ceil-
ing. Better lighting was attained
by new and additional light fix-
tures. The Kkitchen is in the pro-
cess of redecoration. Besides a
new ten burner, two oven gas
stove and a refrigerator, new wir-
ing has been put in the kitchen.

The Men’s Club has donated its
time and labor to do this work
and expect to install a new tile
floor this summer.

The officers of the Men’s Club
are: president, Vernon Cannoy;
vice-president, John Henry; sec-
retary, Lincoln Cathers and treas-
urer, Barney Howland.

W.S.C.S. of the Methodist Church

president, the first being Mrs. C.
G. Mellen. Other active members
at that time were Mrs. L. M.
Gardner, Mrs. Beaman and Miss
Belle Beaman.

Programs of work for the year
were sent to the society from
headquarters and included books
on home and foreign missions. Of-
ten times the meetings centered
about the visit of some returned
missionary when members receiv-
ed first hand information on the
needs of people at home and
abroad. One meeting which Mrs.
Rogers recalled with particular
pleasure was on foreign customs.
Various members decorated homes
to resemble the homes of Chi-
nese, Japanese, Indian and other
countries. Members visited each
home in turn and were entertained
as guests in that particular coun-
try would be entertained and serv-
ed refreshments in keeping with
the decoration.

One memorable missionary
meeting saw the dedication of a

life to service. Miss Lila Thayer,
daughter of Ortega Thayer, Gro-
vest, Gouverneur, N.Y., so ded-
icated her life, studied at a school
in Washington, D.C., later serving
as a missionary in Porto Rico.
Besides the missionary groups
in which the women studied the
needs of others, there existed a
Pastor’s Aid society which aided
in the work of the local church
and raised funds for this purpose
by the well known suppers in ad-
dition to regular dues and gifts.
In September, 1940, the entire
women’s group was changed in
name and set up to our present
Women's Society of Christian
Service, directly under the Con-
ference of the Methodist church in
its rulings and programs.
Presidents of the society since
1940 have been: Mrs. Amy Brown,
Mrs. Grant Freeman, Mrs. Charles
Griffith and, at the present time,
Miss Eleanor R. Fletcher, who
during a period of illness was as-
sisted by Mrs. Merton Hewitt.
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The First Methodist Church in Gouverneur

By GORDON J. BUTLER
And JULIUS R. BARTLETT

A certain air ot mystery hangs
over the beginnings of the Meth-
odist church in Gouverneur. Re-
search among old records does
show that as early as 1807, two
years after the founding of the
settlement, religious meetings
were held that on occasion were
presided over by a Methodist min-
ister. Without a doubt these were
men of the gallant company of
itinerant preachers, who with sad-
dle bags over their horses, braved
the hardships of a wilderness to
carry the gospel. None stayed
long enough to establish any par-
ticular denomination.

Authentic history is obscured
further when some early writings
reveal that previous to 1828 a
Methodist group had grown up,
who, although large enough to
meet in the homes of members,
still lacked a regular minister.
Documents disclose that the home
of Dr. Richard Townsend on the
Johnstown road, one half mile
from the present village limits,
was open for services. However,
as Dr. Townsend had left the town
by that date, the host must re-
main unknown.

After Godfrey W. Barney, listed
as one of the early traveling min-
isters, the first name to be active-
ly connected with Methodism is
that of Benjamin Dighton who
came in 1828.

Early Struggles

Although the Baptist church
which started in Gouverneur in
1811 and the Presbyterian church
in 1817 had received generous do-
nations of land for their buildings
and the support of the community,
the Methodist church had to face
some opposition from certain ele-
ments of the population — not
all connected with the established
denominations.

The story of the Methodist
struggle and growth unfolds as
the facts disclose that by 1832 the
church was able to rent the pres-
ent two story brick building at
No. 6 John street in the rear of
the Gouverneur Savings and Loan
association. The friendly attitude
of the school trustees is indicated
by the fact that the yearly rent
was but fifteen dollars.

Leading the congregation dur-
ing this period was the Rev. Ly-
don J. King, the first ordained

minister, who raised the standards
of the Methodist society and gave
impetus and strength to its
growth.

The Methodists continued their
close association with schools. Fol-
lowing the formation of a vil-
lage class under the leadership of
Mrs. Isaac Smith, Mr. and Mrs.
Joseph Smith and Mrs. Moses
Kenyon, a new two story high
school was built in the eastern end
of the village in 1834. The next
year, the Methodists, now grown
in number and influence, rented
quarters in the building.

Wesleyan Seminary

In 1837 the Black River Confer-
ence of the Methodist church, as
the result of an agreement with
the school trustees, assumed con-
trol and patronage of the high
school and thus established the
first parochial type school in the
village. The Methodist church
group at once felt at home in the
building.

But the institution was destroy-
ed by fire on January 1, 1839, and
again the Methodists were with-
out a meeting place. Just how
they handled the services with a
group now grown too large to
meet in homes is not known. But
the people of the village rallied
quickly after the loss of their high
school, and funds were raised for
the erection of a new high school
opposite the original park site on
Grove street.

Special control and patronage
once more were arranged with the
Methodist church and the institu-
tion became known as the Gouv-
erneur Wesleyan Seminary. For
the next 23 years the Methodists
met in that three story stone
building.

In 1862, ten years after the in-

corporation of the Village of Gou-

verneur, the Methodists purchas-
ed a small church located on the
site of the present Methodist
church for the sum of $1,000. This
structure had been erected about
1844 by dissenters from the First
Congregational church. The pur-
chase was made during the pas-
torate of the Rev. Francis O’'Far-
rell.
New Building

The building remained the
Methodist church home until 1870,
when, in May, the cornerstone of
a much larger church was laid.
The new edifice was completed on
February 9, 1871, at a cost of

$13,500 and was dedicated, free of
debt, ready for the congregation
which had become the equal in
size and activity of anly in the vil-
lage.

The new Methodist church was
far in advance architecturally of
other churches of its time, and its
design and seating capacity of
more than 500 were indicative
of the change in church architec-
ture since pioneer days and of the
trend of future building.

A parsonage, orginially belong-
ing to William H. Bowne, which
adjoined the church was torn
down in 1889. Following the same
foresight in building a home for
the minister that they had used in
building their church, the Meth-
odists erected a large modern, red
brick house trimmed with pressed
brick that overshadowed other
parsonages. Built at the cost of
$4,000, the church assumed a
mortgage for half of the amount.

Ever conscious of the impor-
tance of adequate housing, the
Methodists considered the possi-
bility of constructing a new church
in 1889 but discarded the idea as
an impossibility. Under the enthu-
siastic leadership of Isaac Star-
buck, who had come to Gouver-
neur in 1869, the subject was re-
viewed in 1891. i

As a result, the 1870 wooden
church was remodeled. The con-
struction of the building lent it-
self well to conversion to more
modern architecture. Gouverneur
marble and Potsdam sandstone
belt courses were superimposed
on the original building. The south
side of the church was enlarged
to accommodate a new pipe organ
and the entrance altered. As the
basement which contains a large
kitchen and dining room was
largely above ground, the auditor-
rium was almost a full story from
the street level.

Papers of that time listed the
cost of the remodeling as $19,880
and the building committee as the
Rev. Charles W. Brooks, George
C. Daine, C. C. Heald, William W.
Whitney, Hezakiah S. Randall and
Isaac Starbuck. Accounts show
that at the time of dedication,
February 17, 1892, all remaining
debts on the parsonage and the
church were assumed by the trus-
tees as individuals, and the gener-
osity of the Methodist congrega-
tion enabled the people to occupy
a church building free from debt.
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Outlying Churches

Nor did the Methodists ignore
the needs of their fellow church-
men in nearby communities and
outlying districts. In 1871 they
assisted the people at Natural
Dam in erecting a new building,
and in 1892 carried on a similar
program for the congregation in
Hailesboro. At first these church-
es were allied with the Gouver-
neur institution, but later the two
shared a ‘pastor. There has been

ho: regular service in - either
Hailesboro or Natural Dam for
several -years, The  Hailesboro

church has been converted to a
public -building, and the Natural
Dam: church kept ready for serv-
ice. . :

£-In 1903, members of the Meth-
odist Brotherhood, recognizing the
inconvenience caused their ‘West
Side ‘members in covéring the dis-
tance from the West Side to
Grove street, organized the “Cozy
Branch” ‘Sunday - school that was
held in' that area. In 1906 they
erected a small chapel on West
Main and Reid streets where Sun-
day -afternoon. services in charge
of " the “regular: pastor were held
for many’ years.

: MaJor, improvements to the
First. Methodist church - building
were .undertaken in 1923 when a
new heating and ventilating sys-
telgl, was-installed, the main aud-
1tor1um redecorated, a new light-
ing .system mcorporated and the
basement remodeled to fit .the
néeds of . a constantly growing
congregatlon The exterior of the
church was not changed. On Jan-
uary 6, 1924, the building was re-
dedicated at a service presided
over by Bishop John W. Hamllton
of Washington, D. C.

- Liquidation: of the. debt incurred
was arranged through a three
year -pledge plan. .

‘Improvement Crusade

As the result of an Improve-
ment Crusade undertaken in 1953,
a:new $17,000 Moller organ was
installed, the Sanctuary floor. re-
finished, and new carpeting and
wiring placed in the parsonage.

The organ, made up of three
separate organs,. great, swell and
pedal, was ‘housed in a specially
prepared cabinet which extends
eight feet out from the rear of the
chancel. There are 1100  pipes
ranging in size from. that of a
small lead .pencil to the largest
which is:16 feet.
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On September 21 the redecor-
ated dining room, complete with a
modern lighting system and shuf-
fleboard, was dedicated. The fol-
lowing December the Primary
room was redecorated and refur-
nished.

The Northern New York confer-
ence of the Methodist church was
held in Gouverneur beginning on
April 6, 1924 and continuing
through Monday, April 13. Other
denominations joined in the event
and opened their churches to the
hundreds of . visitors. Bishop Will-
iam Burt, D.D. was the presiding
officer with the Rev. Clarence
True  Wilson and Sir Wilfred
Grenfell of Labrador, Canada
being the principal speakers.

Roll of Pastors

The roll of the pastors: as re-
ported in - the histérical record
book of the church follows: Ben-
jamin © Dighton, - 1828; - Lyndon
King ‘and James Erwin, 1832-3;
George C. Woodruff, 1834; - John
Wallace and John W. Leet, 1835;
Reuben Reélynolds and John Lowry
1836-7;- Horace Rodgers and N. R.
Peck, 1838; Hiram Shepard, 1839;
Loren S. Adkins and Orra. Squires
1840; Harry  Chapin, 1841; John
W.. Armstrong, 1842; Jessie Pen-
field;, 1843; Lorenzo D. Stebbins,
1844; John N. Brown'and Augusta
E.. Munson, 1846; Benjamin - S.
Wright, 1846-7;- Hubert Graves,
Silas Slater, 1849; Hiram Wood-

ruff, 1850; ‘Silas Slater, ~1851;
Jackson - C. Vandercook,” 1852;
Benjamin Paddock, 1853-4:; Allen

Castle, 1855-6; Enos E. Kellogh,
1857-8; Thomas Richey, 1853; Jo-
siah Zimmerman, 1860; Francis A.
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O’Farrell, and John H. Merritt,
1861-62; Benjamin E. Whipple,
1863; Darius Simmons, 1864-5;
Anson T. Copeland, 1866-7; Char-
les W. Brooks, 1868-70; John T.
Hewitt, 1871-2; Ward W. Hunt,
1873-5; Charles W. Parsons, 1876-
8; Isaac D. Peaslee, 1879; A. John-
ston Cowles, 1880-2; W. Dempster
Chase, 1883-5; Mattison W. Chase
1886-8; S. T. Dibble, 1889-92; S. J.
Greenfield and L. T. Conrad, 1893-
5; S. J. Greenfield and W. H. Sim-
mons, 1895-6; E. B. Topping, 1897-
1901; C. L. Peck, 1901-5; M. G.
Seymour, 1905-7; John S. Wilds,
1907-12; William M. Hydon, 1912-
17, Harry- C. Campbell, 1917- ;
Maynard “-P. - Beach, -1924-29;
James W. Barrett, 1929-31;  Ed-
ward J. Lavis; 1931-35; and Har-
old A. Thomas, 1935-50.  William
C.- Wood, who took over . the
charge-in 1950, is the present pas-
tor in 1955

Methodist Conference

.. The Gouverneur Methodist
church was. host to the 82nd an-
nual session of the Northern New
York Conference of the Methodist
church, Syracuse area, May 12
through . 16, .1954. Hundreds of
delegates from church organiza-
tions and the clergy were present
for the sessions and. were wel-
comed not only by the host
church but by people of all faiths
in' the village who. opened their
homes, churches and institutions
for the use of the v151tmg Meth:
odists.

The conference was pres1ded
over by Walter E. Ledden, DD.
LLD, Bishop of the Syracuse area.

THE FIRST METHODIST CHURCH
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The First

By CLAYTON RUSH

The First Baptist church of the
Town of Gouverneur was organ-
ized under that name at the resi-
dence of Isaac Austin on the 18th
day of February, 1811.

At the first business meeting
held shortly after February 18th,
the names of 18 members were
signed to the petition, namely
Jonathan Payne, Stephen Patter-
son, Eleazer Nichols, John Brown,
Hezekiah Nichols, Isaac Austin,
Benjamin Drake, Aaron Atwood,
Zilpha Gates, Patty Payne, Alice
Payne, Betsy Thompson, Nancy

Nichols, Levicie Smith, Polly
Brown, Hannah Atwood and James
Thompson.

Jonathan Payne was elected
deacon, Stephen Patterson, church
clerk, and Isaac Austin and John
Brown to look after the finances.

At the time of organization, a
council was sent from the Baptist
church of Hartford, Washington
county, N.Y., from which many of
the early settlers came, to con-
sider their request and the resolu-
tions laid before them, including
Articles of Faith, which were
doctrinal and practical and the
Church Covenant.

First Deacon

Jonathan Payne, first deacon,
had received a license from the
church to preach, and he was
soon ordained by the Council to
the work of the Gospel Ministry.
In 1812, this church was one of
the constituent churches to form
the St. Lawrence Baptist associa-
tion. Jonathan Payne was its first
moderator.

; Baptism

The first to be baptized was
Sally Hasskin, who was baptized
in the river June 7, 1812.

Previous to the erection of the
second edifice in 1850, the Oswe-
gatchie River was used for Bap-
tismal purposes. The pastor and
deacons, followed by the candi-
dates, left the meeting house, four
abreast, and singing as they went,
passed down the river on the east
side below the falls, where a small
brook entered the river, There
the baptismal services took place.

From the time Brother Payne
left in March 1816, to 1825 the
church was without a pastor. The
work of the church went on regu-
larly, however. Meetings were
held on the Sabbath and active
elders ministered to the members.
As a result of this labor, 102 mem-
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Baptist Church in Gouverneur

bers were added to the church roll
during this pastorless time.

Letters of dismission were
granted to members of the First
Baptist Church of Gouverneur to
organize other churches as fol-
lows: In 1822, a number to organ-
ize in Fowler; in 1834, sixteen to
organize at Richville and in 1843,
a number to organize at North
Gouverneur,

} First Church

The first church edifice was
erected in 1822, on the present
site. The land donated by Gouver-
neur Morris, on which the present
church stands, originally included
the lot where the G. & C. Hard-
ware store now is, and the little
brick building back of it, formerly
a school house. John street, when
first established, cut through the
Baptist lot.

Second Church

The second edifice was erected
in 1850 _and dedicated on Novem-
ber 7th of that year. It was par-
tially destroyed by fire March 26,
1894. The present parsonage was
built 1871 to 1874 during the pas-
torate of Mr, Putnam.

Present Church

The present edifice was started
very soon after the fire, The cor-
ner stone was laid June 5, 1894,
and the building was so far com-
pleted as to have services in the
Sunday School room on the anni-
versary of the fire. It was dedi-
cated Nov. 7, 1895. The total cost
of the new building was about
$25,000.

A considerable part of the funds
was raised by the Rev. D. D.
Munro, pastor of the church from
1891 to 1897. The Rev. A. W.
Rogers, who followed Rev. Munro,
is credited with wiping out a
$12,000 indebtedness by his per-
sistent and well planned efforts.
Eighty-eight members were add-
ed during his pastorate.

Rev. Beckwith

During the pastorate of Rev.
Irving J. Beckwith, the church
observed its Centennial anniver-
sary, November 19 to 22 1911.
Several former pastors returned
to participate in the services. The
Rev. A. W, Rogers of Schenectady
preached the sermon on the open-

ing day.
There are many interesting
facts relating to the Baptist

church, prepared and published in
previous years. We are indebted

to Mrs. C. A. Parker, who wrote
the “History of Gouverneur” pub-
lished in 1890, and ‘“History of
Baptist Church” prepared by Miss
Jennie Williams on occasion of the
dedication of the present church
edifice in 1895. Also one written
by Mrs. E. H. Neary for “History
of Gouverneur” in 1905, also one
written by Mrs. Seymour Easton
for the Northern Tribune.
Evangelistic Campaign

The Baptists participated in a
union evangelistic campaign, to-
gether with Methodists and Pres-
byterians, November 12 to De-
cember 17, 1916, under the lead-
ership of the Rev. Dr. J. N. Mec-
Combe, “It is said to have been
the greatest religious awakening
in Gouverneur within the memory
of the oldest Christian people.”
Fifty persons were baptized into
Baptist fellowship in that church
year. The Rev. Roy E. Barnett
was then pastor. .

Boy Scout Troops

One of the first, if not the first
Boy Scout Troops in Gouverneur,
under the leadership of Mr. Bar-
nett, was organized in 1917, spon-
sored by the Baptist church. The
troop owned its own tents and
camping equipment, and each
summer two weeks of camp life
was enjoyed at Sylvia Lake or
Pleasant Lake. The scouts also or-
ganized a Fife and Drum Corp,
which~ was active for several
years.

Union Service

The Union Candlelight Com-
munion service with the Baptists,
Methodists and Presbyterians par-
ticipating was instituted in April
1928 during Holy Week. The first
service was held in the Baptist
church. The Rev. L. L. Hutchin-
son was then pastor of the church.
This union service continues to
be held each year.

The Building

A new central heating system,
replacing several small furnaces,
was installed in 1937 during the
pastorate of the Rev. Chanley.

The church auditorium and
Sunday School rooms were redec-
orated, in 1947 at a cost of
$2,500.00, half of which was con-
tributed by Miss Nina B. Pike
and Mrs. B. G. Parker in memory
of their sister, Miss Carrie M.
Pike.

To relieve the overcrowded con-
ditions in the kindergarden and
lower grades of the Gouverneur
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Central schools, a part of the
Baptist church was leased to the
Board of Education for school
purposes, until the new school
buildings, voted June 27, 1953,
are ready for occupancy.

Pipe Organ

The pipe organ rebuilt by the
Buhl Organ Co. in 1954 at a cost
of about $5,500, was dedicated
March 14, 1954 by the Rev. Wil-
liam H. Work, minister, with Miss
Marilyn Howard, organist. An ap-
propriate plaque has been pre-
pared listing the names of all con-
tributors to the organ fund. Part
of the funds given represented
memorials for individuals or fami-
lies, and the gifts are credited as
follows: From Miss Nine B. Pike
in memory of the family; from
James B. Thompson, in memorial
of his wife, Grace Thoqapson; Mrs.
Theron Storie, memorial for her
mother, Mrs. Jerome Clark; from
Mrs. Lisle Beardslee in memorial
of her mother, Mrs. Minerva
Thompson Walling and a memor-
ial for Miss Marion Leggett given
by her many friends at the time
of her untimely death.

Pastors of The First Baptist
Church, Gouverneur, N.Y. since
1811 to 1955.

Jonathan Payne, February 20,

1812 to March 1816; Noah Barrell,
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January 1, 1825 to July 5, 1827;
Joseph W. Sawyer, May 18, 1828
to June 16, 1833; Clement Havens,
June 1834 to June 1837; Wuk-
kuam E. Locke, July 1, 1837 to
January 1, 1839; Newell Boughton,
May 1839, to May 1, 1841; Samuel
Pomeroy, May 1, 1841 to Decem-
ber 1845; J. N. Webb, March 1846
to February 1848; Joseph W. Saw-
yer, October 1, 1848 to March
1851; Conant Sawyer, April 1851
to December 12, 1852; H. A. Mor-
gan, June 1852 to June 1855; O.
W. Babcock, September 1855 to
April 16, 1862.

George A. Ames, May 1862 to
June 1864; J. W. Daniels, October
1, 1864 to October 1867; J. B.
Child, February 1868 to Septem-
ber 1871; James W. Putnam, Oc-
tober 29, 1871 to August 1, 1874;
E. P. Weed, September 1874 to
November 1876; H. C. Hownley,
February 11, 1877 to April 1, 1880;
M. L. Rugg, June 1880 to April
11, 1884; H. S. Schwartz, July 6,
1884 to July 6, 1889; D. D. Munro,
January 1, 1891 to January 10,
1897; A. W. Rogers, April 1, 1897
to October 1902; J. G. Clutter-
buck, November 22, 1903 to July
30, 1905; L. N. Sirrell, November
5, 1905 to October 20, 1907; G. B.
Bradley, January 1, 1908 to June
1, 1911,

THE SECOND CHURCH erected by the Baptist Society. This
building was dedicated November 7, 1850 and replaced the first
church erected on the site in 1811, the year the church was
established with Rev. Jonathan Payne, first pastor. This build-
ing burned March 26, 1894 and the present church building
- was started June 5, 1894 and dedicated November 5, 1895.
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Irving J. Beckwith, September
1, 1911 to February 1, 1916; Roy

E. Barnett, May 17, 1916 to Octo-

ber 19, 1919; J. Wilbur Richard-
son, November 30, 1919 to Novem-
ber 18, 1923; W. J. McCullough,
June 8, 1924 to December 1, 1927;
L. L. Hutchinson, February 1,
1928 to November 2, 1930; Isaac
C. Taylor (Interim Pastor) No-
vember 9, 1930 to October 11,
1931; Ralph E. Gould, October 18,
1931 to December 31, 1934; Earl
E. Chanley, March 17, 1935 to
January 5, 1941; William Mont-
gomery, May 4, 1941 to August
29, 1943; Ward L. Crawford, No-
~ember 21, 1943 to November 1,
1951; Willlam Hubbard Work,
March 5, 1952 to January 26, 1955.
The Rev. Anthony E. Jefferson of
Rose, N.Y., accepted a call to the
First Baptist church in May of
1955. ‘

Nazarene Church
By REV. L. C. WARNER

In the year 1903 at the close of
the Union Revival held in the
First Baptist church with Rev.
John A .Davis as evangelist, the
Brotherhood of the First Metho-
dist church wanted to do some-
thing of evangelistic endeavor lo-
cally.

They commenced prayer meet-
ings in what is known as Gard-
ner’s Grocery store now, and the
outgrowth was .a Sunday School
on the West Side, held Sunday af-
ternoon. 5

In the later part of 1903 the
present building was in the process
of construction and in 1904 was
completed to be called the Cozy
Corner Branch Sunday school.
After the year 1916 services were
no longer held but the Methodists
of West Side still asked for serv-
ices and a pastor. They were un-
able to secure a Methodist pastor.

A young minister from Eastern
Nazarene College, Rev. Hervey
Brown, in the year 1918 became
pastor of the Cozy Corner Branch.

In 1922 the Methodist church

voted to sell the building to the
Church of the Nazarene.
“ The following have been pastors
since the church had its local or-
ganizational beginning: Rev.
Brown, Rev. Sturgeon, Rev. Mc-
Pherson, Rev. Williams, Rev. Kee-
ler, Rev. Whitney, Rev. Hill, Rev.
Crutcher, Rev. Smith, Rev. Potter
Rev. Burdett, Rev. Herberle. The
present pastor is Rev. C. Leroy
Warner.
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St. James Roman Catholic Church

The parish of St. James is in-
timately associated with a much
larger territory than is now em-
braced within its parish limits. In
the earliest days of the parish, it
included for a time, Harrisville,
Fine, Keenes Station and several
other neighboring hamlets and
communities.

1850-1877 — Early History

Catholics came into Gouverneur
about the middle of the 19th cen-
tury. It has been said that in 1850,
there were only two Catholics
here, but their identity is not
known now. In the beginning, the
spiritual needs of the Catholics
living in and around Gouverneur
were given by priests from vari-
ous sections of the North Coun-
try, especially Ogdensburg and
Canton. It should be noted that,
in 1850, this part of Northern New
York was part of the Diocese of
Albany, which had been erected in
1847. The first Bishop of Albany
was the Right Reverend John Mc-
Closkey, who was later to become
the Cardinal Archbishop of New
York. And, so the parish of St.
James had its beginning as a par-
ish of the Diocese of Albany and
until 1872 was under the jurisdic-
tion of the Bishop of that ‘diocese.

In 1872, the Diocese of Albany
was divided, the northern part be-
coming the present Diocese of Og-
densburg with the Right Reverend
Edgar P. Wadhams as the first
Bishop. The Diocese of Ogdens-
burg comprises the following
counties: Clinton, Essex, Franklin,
Jefferson, Lewis and St. Law-
rence, together with the northern
parts of Hamilton and Herkimer
countries, a total of some 12,000
square miles or about one-quarter
of New York state.

As early as 1856, the Catholics
of the community were consider-
ing plans for a church building
and property was purchased on
South street. However because of
the then small number of parish-
ioners, the plan to build was de-
layed for several years and the
property sold. As the years went
on and the number of parishioners
increased, St. James parish be-
came an out-mission of St. Mary's
parish in Canton. In 1873 or 1874,
the Reverend James O’Driscoll,
pastor of the Canton church, se-
cured property on Park street for
a church. After being used a very
short time, the building was en-

tirely destroyed by fire in Janu-
ary of 1875.

The congregation immediately
set about to erect a new church.
Land was acquired on Gordon
street, and the building of the
new church was completed in the
fall of 1875. Bishop Wadhams
dedicated the church on Novem-
ber 25, 1875. This church served
the parish until 1925, when the
present church was completed on
Main street. The old church was
sold the following year and is
now owned by the Grange.

Just prior to the opening of the
CGordon street church, the parish
of St. James was incorporated
under the Religious Corporation
Laws of New York State, with the
Right Reverend Bishop, the Rev-
erend James MacKey, Vicar Gen-
eral of the Diocese, the Reverend
James O'Driscoll, pastor, and
Noah Loomis and Owen Sullivan
as the original incorporators.

First Resident Pastor

In 1877, Gouverneur was de-
tached from the jurisdiction of St.
Mary’s parish at Canton, and the
Reverend Thomas Kelleher was
appointed the first resident pas-
tor. There were then about 40
families in the parish. Father
Kelleher remained about a year,
when he was named pastor of
Sacred Heart parish at Massena.
St. James parish then reverted to
the status of a mission, being at-
tached to St. Patrick’s parish at
Rossie. This arrangement con-

tinued until 1882, when the Rever-
end Damase Guilbault was sent
to Gouverneur by Bishop Wad-
hams. He was succeeded the fol-
lowing year by the Reverend Ed-
ward C. Laramee.

During the pastorate of Father
Laramee, a parochial school was
opened about 1885 under the di-
rection of the Sisters of Mercy. In
those days, the Mother house of
the Sisters of Mercy was located
at Hogansburg. The school oper-
ated for several years and then
closed about 1892.

On December 23, 1885, the par-
ish acquired a tract of land from
James Spencer for cemetery pur-
poses, The cemetery located at
the corner of Factory and Pooler
streets was solemnly blessed by
Bishop Wadhams on September
25, 1877.

Father Laramee after serving
the parish about 13 years was as-
signed to the Church of the As-
sumption at Redford in 1896, and
was succeeded here by the Rever-
end Michael Gallivan.

1896-1936 — Father Gallivan

Father Gallivan, a native of
Brushton, was a young man when
he came to Gouverneur in 1896,
having been ordained in 1890 at
St. Joseph’s church, Malone. Des-
tined to serve the parish for 40
years, Father Gallivan began his
ministrations in his new parish
with the ardor and zeal which was
to characterize his long years of
service 'in St. James parish. He

THE PRESENT ST. JAMES CATHOLIC CHURCH was erected
in 1925. Its completion was the fulfillment of the life-long dream
of Father Michael Galvin, pastor of St. James parish for 40 years.
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found a considerable increase in
parishioners over the 40 original
families of 1873. And, as the par-
ish further increased in numbers,
he could readily see the need at
some future date of a larger
church. With vision and careful
administration, Father Gallivan
began early to make plans against
the day when the need for a new
church would become imperative.

As early as 1909, he acquired
the site of the present church on
the corner of East Main and
North Gordon streets. Part of the
original holdings of Octavius P.
Sterling, the land was sold to the
parish by Barnard G. Parker on
March 22, 1909. The following
day, Father Gallivan purchased
the home of Henry Sudds, adjoin-
ing the church property, for a rec-
tory.

In the years that were to fol-
low, Father Gallivan kept build-
ing the fund for new construction
and began early planning for a
new church. From plans prepared
by David D. Kieff of Watertown,
construction of the present church
was begun in 1924 by J. B. and R.
L. Reid of Alexandria Bay. Father
Gallivan celebrated the first Mass
in the new church on Thanksgiv-
ing Day in 1925. It has been said
by the older parishioners that
Father Gallivan saw virtually
every stone placed so interested
was he in the work he had dream-
ed these many years.

The Church Building

The new church is of English
Gothic. The exterior is construct-
ed of random laid Gouverneur
marble with a stone trim. With
its tower and belfry towards the
front right-hand side and the sec-
ondary chapel adjoining the nave
to the rear left, the church stands
out as one of the most imposing in
the village.

The stone window tracery, into
which the leaded art glass is in-
stalled, was at that time an inno-
vation in church work, most trac-
ery having been executed in wood.

The interior, with its paneled
wainscot and reredos, together
with the hammered beam roof,
lends an atmosphere of dignity
and is in strict accord with the
architectural design.

The total cost of construction
and furnishings was in excess of
$100,000, a substantial sum in
those days. It stands as a magnifi-
cent tribute to the efforts of the
old parishioners under the guid-
ance of the zeal, hard work and
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careful planning of a truly great
pastor. It will remain a lasting
memorial to a great priest.

In 1927, the need for additional
cemetery land was noted, and a
site on Route 58, on the Hailes-
boro road was purchased from
Walter R. Perrin. Father Gallivan
set about immediately to slowly
develop the new property.

Il health early in the 30’s
forced the curtailment of Father
Gallivan’s activities. The Rever-
end Donald S. Gallagher, now pas-
tor of St. Patrick’s church at
Chateaugay, was named adminis-
trator early in 1934. He served
until May 1936, when Father Gall-
ivan resigned as pastor and went
to live at Brushton, his native
town. Here he died September 26,
1939, and was buried in St. Mary’s
cemetery, Brushton, on Septem-
ber 29th. Thus ended the long and
zealous pastorate of Father Galli-
van, who saw many changes in
the parish of St. James.

1936 To The Present

While Father Gallivan served as
pastor for some 40 years, three
pastors have administered the
parish since 1936.

The Right Reverend Monsignor
Cornelius J. Crowley was named
in May, 1936. Like Father Galli-
van, he was a native son of the
Diocese, having been born at Hel-
ena, N. Y. Coming here from Bra-
sher Falls, he served until 1946.
Monsignor Crowley died at Hep-
burn hospital on December 8 of
that year and is buried in Glen-
wood cemetery, Watertown.

The Reverend Frederick P. Di-
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viney succeeded Monsignor Crow-
ley, being appointed in February.
Father Diviney remained here
until December 18, 1951, when he
became pastor of St. Patrick’s
church at Watertown. He was
succeeded by the present pastor,
the Very Reverend Monsignor
James T. Lyng, former Chancel-
lor of the Diocese.

During the period 1936 to 1946,
three priests served as assistants
to the late Monsignor Crowley.
The late Reverend William S. Ca-
pron was an assistant from 1936
to 1940; he was succeeded by Rev-
erend Frederick P. Shue, now pas-
tor at North Bangor. The Very
Reverend Monsignor William J.
Argy, presently Chancellor of the
Diocese, was an assistant follow-
ing Father Shue. The last regu-
larly assigned assistant was the
Reverend Timothy M. Ladden,
who served briefly in 1953 under
Monsignor Lyng.

It is noteworthy that since
1883, the parish has been served
by only five pastors, forty years
of which time was under one pas-
tor. The history of the parish of
St. James is in a large measure
the history of one pastor, Father
Gallivan.

From a small beginning in the
when there were about
40 families, the congregation has
grown until today there are up-
wards of 400 families. The terri-
tory presently embraces, besides
the village of Gouverneur, the
villages and communities of Bal-
mat, Fowler, Hailesboro, Natural
Dam, Richville and Spragueville,
besides the outlying rural areas.

g

FOR FIFTY YEARS THIS LITTLE WOODEN CHURCH on Gor-
don street served the St. James Catholic parish. The building was

erected in 1875, and the first

mass was celebrated in the new

church on Main street in 1925. The old church is now the Gouver-

neur Grange Hall.
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Chamber of Commerce Works for Expansion

Civic improvement, industrial
expansion and better living con-
ditions for the people in Gouver-
neur have been the aims of the

Gouverneur Chamber of Com-
merce since its organization in
April, 1908. <Continuously since

that time, with the exception of
two 'years during World War I,
the group has promoted new busi-
ness enterprises, encouraged con-
servation and played a strong
role in forming public opinion on
municipal affairs.
New Depot

The first major move of the
Chamber came late in 1908, when,
under the guidance of its first
president, Morell E. Loveland, it
added its voice to the demands of
the village board and individual
citizens to assist on the removal
of the New York Central passen-
ger station from the south side of
the tracks to the north side. With-
out a doubt the opinion of the
chamber, representing as it did
over 125 members, was influential
in convincing the New York Cen-
tral to agree to the construction
of the present brick building.
Work was started on the structure
in August, 1909, and the station
was opened on Feb. 24, 1910 with
the Gouverneur Reading Room
association making it a library
benefit.

William Street Crossing

Raising of the overhead rail
crossing of the New York Central
on William street was also a
Chamber of Commerce project.
After the iron bridge was erected
on William street over the Oswe-
gatchie river in 1892, replacing the
old 1866 covered bridge, the road-
way was elevated sufficiently to
make it difficult for loads of hay
or high rigging to pass under the
railroad span. Partly because of
the action of the chamber, the
New York Central put in a differ-
ent type of crossing that elimin-
ated this traffic hazard.

Post Office

The influence of the Chamber
was also felt when the decision
had to be made in 1910 and 1911
on a site for a new Post Office
building. Federal plans which had
included a driveway entirely
around the building were not pos-
sible on the site of the post office
then located on East Main street.
Charles McCarty, then postmaster
and prominent member of the
Chamber of Commerce, working

with other members who had a
vision of the traffic problems
which would come with increas-
ing numbers of automobiles, was
able to convince the residents of
the village of the desirability of
placing the building in the Judge
Edwin Dodge grove. In 1912 an
allotment of funds was made by
Congress and excavation started
in 1915 for the building that cost
about §52,000. The purchase price
of the lot was $9,500.

High School

In 1914 when the Gouverneur
Board of Education announced
that Mrs. Myra Dean and her
daughters, Miss Jennie and Miss
Cora Dean, would build and equip
a high school, the Chamber of
Commerce was called upon to or-
ganize a meeting to accept the
offer and to honor the Dean fam-
ily.

Following it’s completion, the
Chamber of Commerce worked
out a plan of the village to buy
the old school building for $32,000
and to vote $20,000 for altera-
tions that would permit the use
of the structure for municipal pur-
poses as well as a large public hall
and opera house. This action was
based on the idea that another
elementary school would be built.
The Chamber of Commerce effort
went for naught as the school
district was unable to carry out
its plan.

New Industries

In 1914 the Lawton Brothers of
Elmira were induced to locate
here in the defunct Van Duzee
Manufacturing plant through the
Chamber of Commerce committee
efforts. Their operation was never
large and terminated in 1919.

Two further efforts to obtain
new industries came in the 1914-
1916 period. In April, 1914, the
Perfect Silk Throwing Co. of
Hamburg, Pa., with Charles H.
Knepka, manager, indicated a de-
sire to locate in Gouverneur and
requested a bond issue of $15,000
through popular  subscription.
Agreement on terms with the lo-
cal residents proved impossible
and negotiations ended.

Silk Mills

Another silk company from
Cortland became interested in lo-
cating here in the fall of 1916
seeking a site for the plant then
located in Theresa. The Chamber
raised several hundred dollars to
aid the company in moving its ma-

chinery to the David G. Scholton
Marble Works plant at 20 Mill
street.

The plant, known as the Cort-
land-Gouverneur Silk Mills, began
operations in Februarly, 1917, and
continued through World War 1.
In May, 1922, the Silk Mill peo-
ple requested the Chamber to ask
the people of the village to sub-
scribe to a bond issue of $35,000
to build a new plant to accommo-
date their expanding business. The
issue was successful and the silk
business boomed for over six years
employing nearly 80 people.

With the appearance of new
substitutes for silk on the market,
the plant closed in July, 1929 leav-
ing the stockholders with the
building and equipment on their
hands.

These incidents show the diffi-
culties encountered by the Cham-
ber in inducing new industries to
settle in Gouverneur.

In 1925 the Chamber threw its
entire support to oppose a rescind
ing vote for the referendum vote
of Oct. 22, 1923 calling for the
erection of a municipal power
plant.

Van Duzee Hospital

The Chamber of Commerce in-
stituted the movement that event-
ually brought about the conver-
sion of the Stephen B. VanDuzee
house on William street into a
hospital. Mrs. Lucy Turnbull,
daughter of Mr. VanDuzee, asked
the Chamber to set up an organi-
zation that would take over the
VanDuzee home on her death and
the Chamber complied.

Lace Mill

When the International Lace
companly plant on Prospect street
closed in 1927 and remained idle
for ten years, the Chamber of
Commerce sent representatives to
Philudelphia to see if there was
any way of reopening the plant.
The trip was to no avail. The
plant was operated again in 1937
as a combined lace and stocking
factory but closed again during
World War II. The purchase of
the plant by the Rushmore Paper
Mills in 1944 was a boon to local
economic conditions and ended all
mourning for the lost lace com-
pany.

Conservation Efforts

In April, 1928, a reforestration
program was started by the Cham-
ber of Commerce at Fullerville
with students of the Gouverneur
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high school cooperating by plant-
ing pine seedlings. The first plant-
ings of 8,000 were made on May 2.
The Chamber’s lands at Fuller-
ville are mainly on the east side of
the Fullerville road on the east
side of the West Branch of the
Oswegatchie river. There are now
around 100,000 trees on the cham-
ber project. The first plantings
have reached a height of about 20
feet.
Christmas Decorations

Christmas decorations on the
village streets were started on a
large scale by the Chamber of
Commerce in 1929. During this
same period, the organization’s
work on freight rates, particularly
those connected with coal, bore
some fruit. An improvement in in-
surance rates was brought about
by the Chamber through the vil-
lage trustees working out insur-
ance underwriter’s recommenda-
tions on dead end water mains in
various sections of the village.

Water Supply
In the early 1930’s the problem
of obtaining a pure water supply
for the village interested the
Chamber. The body went on rec-
ord as favoring a lake or spring
water source as opposed to a fil-
tration plant. Engineer figures on
various lake or similar supply
were staggering and officials be-
lieved there was no chance of the
taxpayers approving the expendi-
ture that would amount to over
$300,000. A filtration plant was
voted on in July 1934 and lost by a
vote of 357 to 22. Little discussion
has been heard on an improved
water supply since that time.
The Gouverneur airport was
backed by the Chamber in 1931,
and a large crowd attended the
dedication on Labor Day of that
year.
Church Street
In 1933 when the State High-
way Department built a concrete
road through the village, replac-
ing the original 1913 state-built
macadam road, the need of we-
building the Church street road
was obvious. The Chamber worked
effectively with the village trus-
tees and presented a taxpayer sig-
nature group of 140 backing the
Church street and short Grove
street improvement. The vote was
carried with a large margin by the
taxpayers and the streets were
concreted and curbs provided
where none had existed previous-
ly.
Other Activities
The <Chamber was also asso-
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ciated with a 4-H club Achieve-
ment Day in October, 1937, and in
advertising in the World Fair
Book in 1938.

During World War 1II, the
Chamber assisted in obtaining
farmers’ permits for use of the
properties in the 1940 maneuvers
in this area. At the close of the
war, the Chamber made arrange-
ments for the armistice obser-
ance at the fairgrounds.

As far back as 1924 when a mo-
tion was unanimously approved
by the Chamber for the building
of “The St. Lawrence River Canal”
the group has backed the Sea-
way project. A Seaway dinner was
held at the Gouverneur Country
club in May, 1945.

In 1948, the Chamber tried to
interest local people in having the
Hockenbury System of Harris-
burg, Pa., investigate the need and
possibilities of a hotel here. How-
ever, as construction of the Ed-
ward John Noble hospital was
being considered at that time, pub-
lic response was not favorable and
the project was dropped.

Sesqui-centennial

An attempt was made in May,
1950 by the Chamber to promote
an observance of the 100th anni-
versary of the incorporation of the
village of Gouverneur. In 1952 the
first group meeting of people in-
terested in a Gouverneur observ-
ance of the sesqui-centennial ob-
servance of St. Lawrence county
was sponsored by the Chamber.
The local celebration was carried
out by a general committee with
marked success.

Nearly every year the Chamber
has held an annual dinner meet-
ing. An historic session was held
in the Presbyterian church April
22, 1953 with C. L. Austin, presi-
dent of the Jones and Laughlin
Steel company of Pittsburgh, giv-
ing the main address.

Store Closings

In May, 1953, the Chamber, at
the request of several members,
called a meeting to consider the
closing of the local stores on Sat-
urday at 5:30 p.m. and remaining
open on Friday evening. This
meeting resulted in an apparently
favorable vote, and in July it was
supposed to become effective.
However, some establishments re-
mained open both nights. In Aug-
ust, the retail division of the
Chamber decided almost unani-
mously to close Saturdays and
open Fridays. The Chamber as a
body never took a position in the
matter.
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During late years the secretary
of the Chamber of Commerce, in
addition to being alert to possible
business opportunities, has receiv-
ed more and more letters request-
ing all types of information re-
garding the community. A great
many of these inquiries come from
social studies students.

Membership

At the time of its inception,
annual membership in the Cham-
ber cost $3.00. In 1949 all non-
business individual members or
members of firms doing less than
$25,000 business a year were as-
sessed annual dues of $5.00. Firms
doing $25,000 to $100,000 in busi-
ness pay $10 for membership and
those over $100,000, $15.

Presidents

The following is a list of Cham-
ber of Commerce presidents begin-
ning in May, 1908; Morell E. Love-
land, 1908-1909; Barnard G. Park-
er, 1910-1911; Henry H. Ryan,
1912-1914; Anson A. Potter, 1915;
John J. Sullivan, 1916-17. No elec-
tion was made in 1918 or 1919.

The Chamber reorganized in
May, 1920 with David G. Scholton
acting as temporary chairman and
Charles McCarty as secretary.
Charles M. Tait became president
in 1920; James C. Dolan, 1921-23;
Earl W. Campbell, '24-’25; Byron
J. Carpenter, ’26-'27 and '28;
Frank L. Seaker, '29; Byron Car-
penter, ’'30; William B. Simons,
’31; Edward J. Cahill, ’32; Albert
E. Boughner, ’33-'34; Charles R.
Rodger, ’35; Dr. Stanley W. Salyer,

’36-’37; Elmer Robinson, ’38;
Mason R. Smith, ’39-'40; R.
Dwight Magee, ’41; Edward H.

Case, '42; Jesse O. Canfield, ’43;
Charles I. Ruderman, ’44-’45; Har-
old J. Murphy, ’46-’47; Guy F.
Baker, '48; Charles Creswell, '49;
Charles S. Gass, '50; and Jack
Ruderman, ’51-'52-'53-'54 and 55.

Filling the position of secretary
have been James Vinton Baker,
Arthur F. Corbin, J. Herman Mc-
Lear, Albert M. Jepson, Clayton
F. Rush, Julius R. Bartlett, Earl
Riley and Nelson B. Winters.

Before the reorganization of the
Chamber in 1920, the offices of
treasurer and secretary were com-
bined. Beginning in 1920, Andrew
K. Laidlaw was treasurer until
1930 when George Evans assumed
the position until 1946. George F.
Schlosser was appointed then for
one year, but left town before the
end of his term. Arthur P. Mason
was named treasurer in 1948 and
still holds the office.



